# Molecular mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus type 2

Ružić, Karlo

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2021

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Medicinski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:105:850506

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-04-02



Repository / Repozitorij:

<u>Dr Med - University of Zagreb School of Medicine</u> <u>Digital Repository</u>





# UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

## Karlo Ružić

# Molecular mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus type 2

# **GRADUATE THESIS**



Zagreb, 2021.

This graduate thesis was made at the Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Zagreb, Croatia, mentored by assistant professor Jelena Osmanović Barilar, MD, PhD, and was submitted for evaluation in academic year 2020/2021.

#### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACE - angiotensin converting enzyme

AGEs - advanced glycation end products

AR - aldose reductase

BP - blood pressure

BH4 - tetrahydrobiopterin

cAMP - cyclic adenosine monophosphate

CRP - C-reactive protein

CVS - cardiovascular system

CVD - cardiovascular disease

DM - Diabetes mellitus

DMT1 - Diabetes mellitus type 1

DMT2 - Diabetes mellitus type 2

DPP 4 - dipeptidyl peptidase-4

DPH - dihydropyridines

EC - endothelial cell

ED - endothelial dysfunction

ET - endothelin

eNOS - endothelial nitric oxide synthase

GAPDH - glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

Glc - glucose

GLP-1 – glucagon-like peptide 1

HMG-CoA - hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A

ICAM - intercellular adhesion molecules

iNOS - inducible nitric oxide synthase, neuronal (nNOS).

NAD - Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide

NADP - Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

nNOS - neuronal nitric oxide synthase

NF-κB - nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells

NO - nitric oxide

NOS - nitric oxide synthase

PGI2 - prostacyclin

PMNs - polymorphonuclear cells

PKC- protein kinase c

SMC- smooth muscle cell

RAGE - receptor for advanced glycation end products

ROS - reactive oxygen species

VEGF - vascular endothelial growth factor

VCAM 1 - vascular cell adhesion molecule-1

vWF - Willebrand factor

# Table of contents

| 1. INTRODUCTION                            | 1  |
|--|----|
| 2. ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AND VASCULAR FUNCTION | 1  |
| 2.1 Vascular tone                          | 2  |
| 2.2 Coagulation and fibrinolysis           | 3  |
| 3. ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION                 | 4  |
| 3.1 ROS production, oxidative stress       | 5  |
| 3.2 NOS uncoupling                         | 6  |
| 3.3 Leukocyte adhesion and inflammation    | 7  |
| 3.4 Polyol pathway                         | 8  |
| 3.5 Advanced glycation end products        | 9  |
| 4. TREATMENT                               | 10 |
| 5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS                        | 12 |
| 6. BIBLIOGRAPHY                            | 13 |
| 7. BIOGRAPHY                               | 22 |

#### **SUMMARY**

# Molecular mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus type 2

Karlo Ružić

Endothelium is a thin layer of cells that coats the inner surface of the cardiovascular system and provides a link between the circulating blood and the vessel wall. Due to variety of functions and wide distribution in the body, endothelium can be thought of as an organ by itself. Endothelial dysfunction (ED) is a term which describes the state of damaged endothelium with related loss of function. ED consists of a wide range of pathophysiologic states, in span of localised intimal damage to global, persistent, inadequate endothelial activation important for development of numerous clinically different pathologic states. Major mechanisms of ED include: oxidative stress, endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) uncoupling, inflammatory pathways activation, differential expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, intracellular sorbitol accumulation. ED is a hallmark of impaired vascular integrity from which chronic complications of diabetes mellitus type 2 (DMT2) stem from. ED starts to appear in pre-diabetic state and worsens proportionally with duration of DMT2. Assessment of endothelial function in patients with risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) development is of great importance because it enables us to detect vascular abnormalities and efficiency of therapeutic approach. Increasing quantities of therapeutic modalities have been shown to improve endothelial dysfunction, which has important implications for the treatment of patients at risk of developing chronic complications related to DMT2.

KEY WORDS - endothelium, endothelial dysfunction, diabetes mellitus

# Molekularni mehanizmi endotelne disfunkcije u dijabetes mellitusa tipa 2

Karlo Ružić

Endotel je tanki sloj stanica koji oblaže unutarnje površine kardiovaskularnog sustava te služi kao poveznica između cirkulirajuće krvi i krvnih žila. S obzirom na raznolikost funkcija i široku rasprostranjenost u tijelu, na endotel se može gledati i kao na zaseban organ. Endotelna disfunkcija je pojam koji opisuje stanje oštećenog endotela te posljedično njegovu smanjenu funkciju. Sastoji se od niza patofizioloških stanja, počevši od lokalne ozljede intime do globalne, dugotrajne i neadekvatne endotelne aktivacije koja dovodi do brojnih patoloških stanja. Glavni mehanizmi nastanka endotelne disfunkcije uključuju povećan oksidativni stres, disfunkciju endotelne NO-sintaze (eNOS), upalna stanja, poremećeni izražaj vaskularnog endotelnog faktora rasta (VEGF) te unutarstanično nakupljanje sorbitola. ED je glavno obilježje poremećenog vaskularnog integriteta, iz kojeg se razvijaju kronične komplikacije diabetesa mellitusa tipa 2 (DMT2). Praćenje funkcionalnosti endotelnih stanica od velike je važnosti kod pacijenata s rizikom od razvitka kardiovaskularnih bolesti jer nam omogućuje praćenje stanja vaskularnog sustava te učinkovitosti terapije. Konstantan razvoj i povećanje broja terapijskih pristupa koji vode k poboljšanju ED, također su od velike važnosti u prevenciji, odgodi nastanka ili terapiji kroničnih komplikacija DMT2.

KLJUČNE RIJEČI- endotel, endotelna disfunkcija, diabetes mellitus

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is one of the most widespread and morbid chronic diseases, affecting the health of millions of people in the world. The global prevalence of diabetes has risen in adults from 4.7% in 1980 to 8.5% in 2014. 90-95% of adults have DMT2 (1). According to International Diabetes Federation, in 2019 approximately 463 million adults were living with diabetes, of which 90% was DMT2. Long term effects of diabetes affect many organ systems which involve complex pathology, mainly on cellular and subcellular level. Changes in cerebrovascular system (CVS) are initiated by events that affect endothelium. Vascular endothelial cells line the entire circulatory system, from the heart to the smallest capillaries. These cells have very unique functions which include regulation of blood vessel tone, hemostasis, fluid filtration, such as in the glomeruli of the kidneys, neutrophil recruitment, and hormone trafficking (2). Endothelial dysfunction is one of the key factors that contribute to the development of diabetic complications, and tends to be main event in macrovascular complications such as coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, stroke and microvascular complications such as neuropathy, retinopathy and nephropathy which impose a huge burden on management of this disease. The rate of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in adults with diabetes is 2-3 times greater than in adults without diabetes. CVD is additionally the leading cause of premature death in those with DMT2 (3)

#### 2. ENDOTHELIAL CELLS AND VASCULAR FUNCTION

Although once considered a simple barrier between blood and vessel wall, today it is known that endothelium is a dynamic organ which coats the inner surface of the entire vascular system. By its structure endothelium it is simple, while by distribution it is ubiquitous. The single layer of endothelial cells (EC) that constitutes this barrier is in itself uniquely versatile, showing remarkable physiological and morphological heterogeneity across the vasculature

(4). It is a semipermeable monolayer of spindle-shaped endothelial cells that helps in constituting the innermost layer of blood vessels, known as the tunica intima, and helps in maintaining vascular health and metabolic homeostasis.

Total number of 1-6 x 10<sup>13</sup> of endothelial cells, covers the inner walls of vascular system by area of 4000-7000m<sup>2</sup>. Endothelium is a heterogenous epitelial structure of high biological dynamics which helps preserve metabolic homeostasis and vascular health (5). Cells of the endothelium have numerous functions of great importance which include recognition and adaptation to humoral, mechanical, and hemodynamic changes. Additionally the endotel is a highly active metabolic and endocrine organ producing a variety of different molecules, including vasoactive peptide hormones, growth factors, coagulation factors and adhesion molecules

#### 2.1 Vascular tone

Blood vessel endothelium has a critical role in regulation of vascular tone, and due to that, changes of vascular flow are in complex interaction with endothelium. Ability to cause vasodilation in response to change in blood flow is one of the main functions of healthy endothelium. Upon change in shear stress or blood pressure, endothelial structures react in immediate manner, by performing changes in cellular membranes, reorganisation of internal structure and by programmed initiation of various biochemical processes. In this way EC shows the ability to change mechanical force into biological reactions which can cause long term variation in gene regulation with accompanying restructuring of vessel wall, as well as acute and fast reactions like change in vascular tone (6,7).

In homeostasis, the vascular tone is regulated by the balance of vasodilative and vasoconstrictive signals to normalize blood pressure and flow to current activity requirements. EC control vascular tone by sending paracrine signals to smooth muscle cells surrounding the

vessels, which can constrict vessels by contraction or dilate them by relaxation (8). The most potent vasoconstrictor is endothelin (ET), a 21 amino acid peptide existing in 3 isoforms mainly synthesized by EC (9). In normal, physiologic state, they are in balance with other mechanisms, but when overexpressed, they can significantly increase blood pressure. Endothelin functions through activation of two <u>G protein</u>- coupled receptors, endothelin, and endothelin, receptor. The two types of ET receptor are distributed across whole diversity of cells and organs but with different levels of expression and activity, indicating a multiple-organ ET system (10). The main counter-player against vasoconstriction is nitric oxide (NO), a transmitter, produced by NO synthases (NOS). It relaxes inner muscles of blood vessels, and in this way allows increased blood circulation. Nitric oxide production is essential for healthy organism as it allows flow of oxygen, blood and nutrients to all parts of the body. Insulin has a role in regulation in vascular tone, as it possesses the ability to induce release of both ET and NO (11).

#### 2.2 Coagulation and fibrinolysis

In the vascular system of a healthy organism, EC secrete various agents and mediators which are important for the regulation of blood coagulation and platelet functions. In this way they are preventing the activation of thrombin and inhibiting platelet adhesion, thereby mediating anticoagulant activity. EC displays anticoagulant activity by increasing the number of receptors for protein C activation, by production of thrombin inhibitors and tissue factor. Prostacyclin (PGI2) and nitric oxide (NO) are the major antiplatelet agents which are constitutively secreted by EC (12). Both mediators synergistically increase the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) content in platelets, thereby preventing their aggregation (13). Synthesis of NO and PGI2 is raised in response to agonists like thrombin or bradykinin or secreted by aggregating platelets and serves to limit the formation of thrombi.

#### 3. ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION

Every cell in the organism of people with DM is exposed to abnormally high glucose concentration, but not all are affected. Some cells show an inversely proportional relation between Glc transport through the cell membrane and extracellular hyperglycemia. Cells of the vascular system are specifically acted upon by hyperglycemic damage, because they are unable to downregulate Glc transport under those circumstances, which results in intracellular hyperglycemia (14). Hyperglycemia enhances and prolongs inflammatory reaction by increasing the number of receptors on target cells and thus upregulating them. It also increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) production by various mechanisms some of which are PKC activation, eNOS dysfunction, NADPH oxidase activation (15).

Endothelial dysfunction describes the state of damaged endothelium, its interrupted functionality and is an early event in development of vascular impairment (16). This kind of disturbance comprises a variety of pathophysiological states, from localised injury of intima to widespread and persistent endothelial activation which is important for emergence of numerous clinically manifesting pathological states (17). The basis for its presence is inappropriate activation of endothelium – which is a term that comes from results of in vitro studies that came to conclusion of various harmful stimuli being the trigger for nonspecific expression of endothelial activatory antigens. Endothelial activation can be caused by genetic factors, but in the majority of cases it is the result of bad health habits like smoking, alcohol overconsumption, lack of physical activity, intense physical and psychological stress, bad nutrition. While phenotype of nonactivated, healthy EC is anticoagulant, vasodilatory and antiinflammatory, ED is change which is characterised by prothrombotic, vasoconstrictory and proinflammatory phenotype(18,19).

ED is present in DMT2, in both peripheral and coronary circulation (20). In patients with DMT2, circulating biomarkers which are indirect indices of activation and damage of EC,

with vascular inflammation are found to be increased. These include intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)- and E selectin. Von Willebrand factor (vWF) level, that can be a measure of EC activation and damage (21–24). Presence of slightly increased levels of albumin in urine ( ref. range 30-300mg/24h urine), referred to as microalbuminuria, can be used as an predictor of EC damage and global endothelial dysfunction. Even in earlier stages of DMT2, it can be pronounced and additionally serves as an indicator of diabetic nephropathy (21,25).

### 3.1 ROS production, oxidative stress

In physiological conditions, reactive oxidative species (ROS) act as important second messengers which regulate cell growth and differentiation. They may also act as toxic molecules which help in elimination of bacteria and thus improve the host defence system but when the capacity of the antioxidant system is in disbalance with the amount of ROS produced, oxidative stress occurs (25,26). Under these pathologically increased quantities, ROS reacts with Fe2+ and Cu2+ metal cations, in order to produce hydroxyl radicals that are highly reactive. Hydroxyl radical reacts with cellular constituents like DNA, proteins, lipids which induces cellular malfunction, cell death and ultimately organ failure (27). Increased concentrations of ROS in DMT2 is thought to be the main event, as it is able to induce many other pathways and pathological states that are hallmark of DMT2, thus leading towards appearance and worsening of complications.

#### 3.2 NOS uncoupling

As ability to release vasoactive factors and regulation of blood flow is the main role of healthy endothelium, inadequate availability of NO is one of the main features that is at the same time main mechanism of certain endothelial features that alltogether lead towards endothelial dysfunction (28). Mismatch in availability of NO and activity of vasoconstrictory factors is of crucial importance towards vasoconstriction in ED.

Main mechanisms of reduced NO concentrations in ED can be divided into two groups: decreased production by endothelium and consumptive processes that divert available NO towards other reactions, transforming it into other substances (29). There are 3 isoenzymes of NOS: endothelial (eNOS), inducible (iNOS), neuronal (nNOS). NOS is an enzyme which catalyses the process of production of the NO and citrulline from L-arginine and oxygen as substrates (25,30). Synthesis of NO requires tetrahydrobiopterin as a cofactor - lack of it and/or substrates leads to superoxide formation by the eNOS (31). Metabolic impairment caused by DMT2 increases mitochondrial superoxide and other ROS production in endothelial cells in both micro- and macrovasculature and heart itself, and thus cancels NO effect on target molecules (32,33). Superoxide is able to reduce the amount of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) which causes loss of interaction with eNOS. Loss of interaction leads to eNOS uncoupling and leads to additional increase in production of superoxide (34,35). In addition to eNOS being able to produce superoxide instead of NO under circumstances of lacking cofactor or substrates, NO is capable of reacting with superoxide anion, which marks the appearance of endothelial dysfunction. In the reaction with NO, superoxide anion reacts and forms peroxynitrite, an powerful oxidizing agent (36,37) Consequently, peroxynitrite promotes protein nitration, lipid peroxidation and contributes to dysfunction and death of EC (38,39).

#### 3.3 Leukocyte adhesion and inflammation

The production of ROS has a wide variety of effects on the endothelium. Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-κB) is a protein complex that is omnipresent in the human body, controls many processes, in particular cytokine production, DNA transcription and cell survival (40). It can be activated by various inducers but the focus will be to those of importance in DMT2, which would be ROS and reduced bioavailability of NO. In each of these ways, various genes are activated which are involved in fostering inflammation (12,41,42). NF-κB is found to be chronically active in plenty of inflammatory procesess, including atherosclerosis. Elevation of some activators of NF-kB, like osteoprotegrin, is connected with higher mortality, especially from cardiovascular disease CVD. E-selectins, VCAM, ICAM-1 have also drawn much attention, as their function is to transport leukocytes and other inflammatory cells into the arterial wall. Normal shear forces exerted on endothelium by blood, reduce inflammatory response by inactivation of these adhesion molecules, and further on have anti-atherogenic properties. As biomechanics of blood flow are highly altered in DMT2, adhesion molecules are constantly under some degree of activation, and thus produce constant inflammation. Their activation is, aside from NF-kB activation, considered as the main characteristic of atherosclerosis (43–45). Additionally, Creactive protein(CRP) is moderately increased in states of DM and atherosclerosis which is thought to be a consequence of constant inflammatory reaction in the vascular system (46,47). Additionally, increase of soluble forms of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 has been markedly increased in diabetic patients which may reflect ongoing formation of atherosclerotic lesions and is related to increased risk of development of CVD (48,49).

#### 3.4 Polyol pathway

Pathophysiology of endothelial dysfunction in DMT2 seems to be very complex and consists of many interconnected reactions and metabolic pathways. Most often multiple of these imbalances are present at the same time. As already mentioned, hyperglycemia seems to be the main factor in development and progression of the complications. It leads to activation of many biochemical pathways that are at the same time among most important causative agents of ED, and consequently microvascular degeneration as one of chronic complications of diabetes (50). In between hyperglycemia and activation of aforementioned pathways, are reactive oxygen species. Superoxide inhibits glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and thus causes accumulation of glycolitic intermediates (51). As glucose cant be broken down through glycolysis, it is shunted sideways into other metabolic routes, which can facilitate glucose breakdown. Major pathways that are activated by glycolytic intermediates are polyol pathway, hexosamine pathway, protein kinase C (PKC) pathway, in addition to advanced glycation end products (AGEs) formation.

The polyol pathway consists of two reactions, that are catalysed by 2 different enzymes. First reaction is catalyzed by aldose reductase (AR) and reduces glucose into sorbitol. Under physiological conditions, AR has low affinity towards glucose, but in hyperglycemia, AR and polyol pathway become the main pathway into which glucose is disposed and equals to approx. 30% of glucose being shunted from glycolysis. In reaction nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) is being consumed and converted into NADP which reduces NADPH/NADP ratio. As NADPH is involved in biosynthesis of nitric oxide and fatty acids, lack of it can cause decrease in NO availability and deleterious effects on anabolic pathways (52). In 2<sup>nd</sup> reaction sorbitol is converted into fructose, which is thought to produce major redox imbalance in diabetes due to NADH being produced from NAD Increased ratio od NADH/NAD leads to ROS production and consequently increased oxidative stress. In

addition, excess NADH can inhibit glycolitic pathway, Krebs cycle and pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, leading to more glucose being diverted through polyol pathway. In certain tissues such as kidney, retina and nerves, concentration of sorbitol dehydrogenase is low, which can contribute to sorbitol being accumulated intracellularly (53–55). Sorbitol accumulation causes osmotic stress, and ultimately leads to diabetic nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy which constitute microvascular complications of DMT2.

#### 3.5 Advanced glycation end products

AGEs normally form during aging, but their production and accumulation is known to be increased in some pathologic conditions including DMT2. Otherwise their effect is not of major importance, but in DMT2 AGEs contribute to pathophysiologic alterations (56).

Prolonged hyperglycemia is the cause of AGE formation, which can be endogenous and exogenous. Exogenously they are produced while food is termically processed, and endogenously in reaction to reducing sugar with either protein, nucleic acid or lipids (57,58).

Activation of AGE – RAGE( AGE receptor) contributes to a variety of microvascular and macrovascular complications. The AGE receptor is called RAGE and activation of this axis results in increased oxidative stress, protein crosslinking, inflammation, and apoptosis autophagy (59). AGEs reduce eNOS activity, which may lead to additional production of ROS through NOS uncoupling mechanism (60). In the cardiovascular system, RAGE is found mainly in vascular endothelium and capillaries, which explains AGE deposits in DMT2, that are found mainly in atherosclerotic plaques, vascular smooth muscle, and in myocardial tissues (61,62).

#### 4. TREATMENT

Althought there is no specific pharmacological therapy for endothelial dysfunction, multiple drugs on trials have proved to cause improvement of it.

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonists, also called incretin mimetics, are antidiabetic drugs, which work in such a manner that they mimic actions of endogenously produced hormones, incretins. These functions include stimulation of insulin release from pancreas, inhibition of glucagon release from pancreas. slowing down emptying of the stomach and thus preventing hyperglycemia from occurring (63). Apart from their effect on glucose metabolism, GLP-1 agonists, for instance liraglutide, induce eNOS expression and increase NO in serum, thus improving ED present in DMT2 (64,65). Aside from incretin mimetics, incretin enhancers are also available for improvement of endothelial dysfunction. They inhibit enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) which is responsible for cleavage of GLP-1, and in such a way increase GLP-1 bioavailability. Sitagliptine, which is a highly selective DPP-4 inhibitor, induces expression of eNOS, increases NO synthesis, and reduces mean arterial pressure (66).

Calcium channel blockers (CCB) are antihypertensive drugs, which are divided into dihydropyridines (DPH) and nondyhydropyridines. Dihydropyridines have potent effects on vessel tone, by binding to L-type calcium channels and thus preventing Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into the cell which is needed to vasoconstrict. CCBs, mainly DHP, increase endothelium dependent relaxation, and improve endothelial function in many vascular beds (67,68). But it seems that endotelial improvement from DHP administration stems from their antioxidant effect rather than from Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel antagonism, since EC doesn't possess voltage gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (69). In such manner DHPs protect EC from ROS, which are among the most detrimental substances contributing to ED, thus providing an increase in available NO.

Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors is another group of drugs that improves endothelial function, and they do so by several mechanisms. They increase levels of bradykinin, an endothelium dependent vasodilator, by inhibiting its degradation. Moreover, by depleting angiotensin II, ACE inhibitors are of particular interest due to the range of actions angiotensin II has on ED. Angiotensin II can induce ED by inhibiting NO-synthase activity or by activation of NADH-oxidase. NADH-oxidase is an enzyme system that promotes ROS generation and raises the possibility that these pathways, activated by angiotensin II function as second messengers for long-term responses such as hyperplasia or hypertrophy (70).

Statins are cholesterol lowering drugs, but recent numerous studies have shown that they have a pleiotropic effect in the human body. Hypercholesterolemia also impairs endothelial function and by obstructing the conversion of hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) to mevalonate, statins inhibit an early step in cholesterol synthesis. This leads to an increase in the number of hepatic LDL receptors and thus to improvement in uptake of cholesterol by the liver, which reduces the level of serum cholesterol (74,75). Except for the liver, one of the major target organs of statins is vascular endothelium on which they have direct, cholesterol level - independent effects. They can restore or improve endothelial function by increasing NO availability, promoting re-endothelialization after damage to vessel wall, and by reducing adhesion of inflammatory cells thus inhibiting inflammatory responses within the vasculature (71). An early step in atherogenesis includes monocyte adhesion to the endothelium and penetration into the subendothelial space where they differentiate into macrophages (72). Inflammatory cytokines secreted by macrophages alter endothelial function, collagen degradation, smooth muscle cell (SMC) proliferation, and thrombosis (73).

## 5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express gratitude to my mentor, dr.sc. Jelena Osmanović Barilar, for guidance during writing this graduate thesis.

I would like to thank my family and friends for unconditional support and understanding during my studying years.

#### 6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Henning RJ (2018). Type-2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. Future Cardiol 14:491–509.
- 2. Rajendran P, Rengarajan T, Thangavel J, Nishigaki Y, Sakthisekaran D, Sethi G, et al. (2013) The vascular endothelium and human diseases. Int J Biol Sci 9:1057–69.
- 3. Sarwar N, Gao P, Kondapally Seshasai SR, Gobin R, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, et al. (2010) Diabetes mellitus, fasting blood glucose concentration, and risk of vascular disease: A collaborative meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies. Lancet 375:2215–22.
- 4. Potente M, Mäkinen T. (2017) Vascular heterogeneity and specialization in development and disease ;Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2017; 477-494
- 5. Drenckhahn D NW (1997 ) Vascular endothelium: Physiology, pathology and therapeutic opportunities. ;1–26.
- 6. Fleming I, Fisslthaler B, Dixit M, Busse R.( 2005)Role of PECAM-1 in the shear-stress-induced activation of Akt and the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in endothelial cells. J Cell Sci; Sep 15;118(18):4103–11.
- 7. Davies PF, Spaan JA, Krams R. (2005)Shear stress biology of the endothelium. Ann Biomed Eng .:1714–8.
- 8. Bracamonte-baran W, Daniela Č (2017. The Immunology of Cardiovascular Homeostasis and Pathology. Adv Exp Med Biol.;1003:187–221.
- 9. Davenport AP, Hyndman KA, Dhaun N, Southan C, Kohan DE, Pollock JS, et al. (2016) Endothelin. Pharmacol review ;954-99.

- Kawanabe Y, Nauli SM. Endothelin (2011) Vol. 68, Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences..
   195–203.
- 11. Ferri C, Pittoni V, Piccoli A, Laurenti O, Cassone MR, Bellini C, et al.(1995) Insulin stimulates endothelin-1 secretion from human endothelial cells and modulates its circulating levels in vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab .Mar 1;80(3):829–35.
- 12. D B Cines, E S Pollak, C A Buck, J Loscalzo, G A Zimmerman, R P McEver, J S Pober, T M Wick, B A Konkle, B S Schwartz, E S Barnathan, K R McCrae, B A Hug, A M Schmidt DMS.(1998) Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders.;
- 13. De Graaf JC, Banga JD, Moncada S, Palmer RMJ, De Groot PG, Sixma JJ.(1992) Nitric oxide functions as an inhibitor of platelet adhesion under flow conditions. Circulation ;85(6):2284–90.
- Jiang X, Yang F, Brailoiu E, Jakubowski H, Dun NJ, Schafer AI, et al (2007). Differential regulation of homocysteine transport in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells.
   Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. ;27(9):1976–83.
- 15. Luc K, Schramm-Luc A, Guzik TJ, Mikolajczyk TP. (2019) Oxidative stress and inflammatory markers in prediabetes and diabetes. J Physiol Pharmacol. ;70(6):809–24.
- Thomas SR, Witting PK, Drummond GR.(2008) Redox control of endothelial function and dysfunction: Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. Vol. 10, Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. Antioxid Redox Signal; p. 1713–65.
- 17. Ruzic A, Miletic B, Nola AI, Persic V RRM.(2009) Endotelna disfunkcija u "enigmatskoj slagalici" kardiovaskularnih bolesti.

- 18. Born VRG SC (1997) Vascular endothelium: physiology, pathology and therapeutic opportunities 107-22,:107–22.
- Raitakari OT, Celermajer DS (2000) Testing for endothelial dysfunction. Ann Med.
   ;32(5):293–304.
- 20. Hayes JR. Diabetologia. (1992);2:771–6.
- 21. Woodman RJ, Chew GT, Watts GF (2005). Mechanisms, significance and treatment of vascular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes mellitus: Focus on lipid-regulating therapy.

  Drugs.;65(1):31–74.
- 22. Thorand B, Baumert J, Chambless L, Meisinger C, Kolb H, Döring A, et al. (2006) Elevated markers of endothelial dysfunction predict type 2 diabetes mellitus in middle-aged men and women from the general population. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. ;26(2):398–405.
- Lim, S. C., Caballero, A. E., Smakowski, P., LoGerfo, F. W., Horton, E. S., & Veves A.
   (1999) Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule, and Early Markers of Vasculopathy in.
   ;22(11):1865–70.
- 24. B Guerci, A Kearney-Schwartz, P Böhme, F Zannad PD (2001) Endothelial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Part 1: physiology and methods for exploring the endothelial function
- 25. Nishikawa T, Edelstein D, Du XL, Yamagishi SI, Matsumura T, Kaneda Y, et al. (2000)

  Normalizing mitochondrial superoxide production blocks three pathways of hyperglycaemic damage. Nature.;404(6779):787–90.
- 26. Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL.(2000) Vol. 279, American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology
- 27. Schieber M, Chandel NS (2014) ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress Vol.24, Current Biology. Cell Press; p. R453-62.

- 28. Liao JK.(2013) Linking endothelial dysfunction with endothelial cell activation. J Clin Invest.;123(2):540–1.
- 29. Cyr AR, Huckaby L V., Shiva SS, Zuckerbraun BS (2020) Nitric Oxide and Endothelial Dysfunction. Crit Care Clin.;36(2):307–21.
- 30. Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K, Reddy SP, Malik AB.(2014) Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. Vol. 20, Antioxidants and Redox Signaling.; p. 1126–67.
- 31. Tejero J, Stuehr D.(2013) Tetrahydrobiopterin in nitric oxide synthase. IUBMB Life. ;65(4):358–65.
- 32. Giacco F, Brownlee M. (2010) Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. Circ Res. ;107(9):1058–70.
- 33. Kelm M.(2002) Special Medical Editorial. Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol. ;282(1):1–5.
- 34. Raman CS, Li H, Martásek P, Král V, Masters BSS, Poulos TL (1998) Crystal structure of constitutive endothelial nitric oxide synthase: A paradigm for pterin function involving a novel metal center. Cell. ;95(7):939–50.
- Hodnett BL, Hester RL.(2007) Regulation of muscle blood flow in obesity. Vol. 14,
   Microcirculation. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; . p. 273–88.
- 36. Landmesser U, Dikalov S, Price SR, McCann L, Fukai T, Holland SM, et al.(2003) Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. J Clin Invest.;111(8):1201–9.
- 37. Wolin MS, Gupte SA, Neo BH, Gao Q, Ahmad M (2010). Oxidant-redox regulation of pulmonary vascular responses to hypoxia and nitric oxide-cGMP signaling . Vol. 18, Cardiology in Review.. p. 89–93.

- 38. Radi R (2004). Nitric oxide, oxidants, and protein tyrosine nitration. Vol. 101, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. National Academy of Sciences; . p. 4003–8.
- 39. Liaudet L, Vassalli G (2009); 14: 4809-4814., MEDLINE. Role of peroxynitrite in the redox regulation of cell signal.
- 40. Gilmore TD (2006). Introduction to NF-κB: Players, pathways, perspectives . Vol. 25,Oncogene. Nature Publishing Group; p. 6680–4.
- 41. Pober JS, Sessa WC (2007). Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation . Vol. 7, Nature Reviews Immunology. Nat Rev Immunol;; p. 803–15.
- 42. Tesfamariam B, DeFelice AF (2007). Endothelial injury in the initiation and progression of vascular disorders. Vol. 46, Vascular Pharmacology. Vascul Pharmacol; ;p. 229–37.
- 43. Dekker RJ, Van Thienen J V., Rohlena J, De Jager SC, Elderkamp YW, Seppen J, et al.(2005) Endothelial KLF2 links local arterial shear stress levels to the expression of vascular tone-regulating genes. Am J Pathol . ;167(2):609–18.
- 44. Jr MAG (1999) Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherosclerosis. Thromb Haemostasis
- 45. SenBanerjee S, Lin Z, Atkins GB, Greif DM, Rao RM, Kumar A, et al.(2004) KLF2 is a novel transcriptional regulator of endothelial proinflammatory activation. J Exp Med ;199(10):1305–15
- 46. Ridker PM (2007). Inflammatory Biomarkers and Risks of Myocardial Infarction, Stroke, Diabetes, and Total Mortality: Implications for Longevity. Nutr Rev.;:253–9.
- 47. Schalkwijk CG, Poland DCW, Van Dijk W, Kok A, Emeis JJ, Dräger AM, et al. (1999)

  Plasma concentration of C-reactive protein is increased in Type I diabetic patients without

- clinical macroangiopathy and correlates with markers of endothelial dysfunction: Evidence for chronic inflammation. Diabetologia. ;42(3):351–7.
- 48. Jager A, Van Hinsbergh VWM, Kostense PJ, Emeis JJ, Nijpels G, Dekker JM, et al. (2000)
  Increased Levels of Soluble Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 Are Associated With Risk of
  Cardiovascular Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes, Vol. 49,.
- 49. Becker A, Van Hinsbergh VWM, Jager A, Kostense PJ, Dekker JM, Nijpels G, et al. (2002) Why is soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 related to cardiovascular mortality? In: European Journal of Clinical Investigation. Eur J Clin Invest; p. 1–8.
- 50. Altaf QA, Tahrani AA.(2009) Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Diabetic Microvascular Complications. Modulation of Sleep by Obesity, Diabetes, Age, and Diet. Elsevier Inc.; 2015. 213–224 p.
- 51. Kanwar M, Kowluru RA (2009) Role of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase in the development and progression of diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes. ;58(1):227–34.
- 52. Mapanga RF, Essop MF (2016) Damaging effects of hyperglycemia on cardiovascular function: Spotlight on glucose metabolic pathways. Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol. ;310(2):H153–73.
- 53. Aldebasi Y, El-Gendy SM, Kamel A, Mohieldein A. (2013) Aldo-keto reductase and sorbitol dehydrogenase enzymes in Egyptian diabetic patients with and without proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Clin Exp Optom.;96(3):303–9.
- 54. Hotta N (1997) New concepts and insights on pathogenesis and treatment of diabetic complications: polyol pathway and its inhibition. Nagoya J Med Sci. ;60(3–4):89–100.
- 55. Javed S, Petropoulos IN, Alam U, Malik RA (2015) Treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy.

  Ther Adv Chronic Dis.;6(1):15–28.

- 56. Semba RD, Nicklett EJ, Ferrucci L (2010) Does accumulation of advanced glycation end products contribute to the aging phenotype? Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.;65 A(9):963–75.
- 57. Vlassara H.(1997) Recent progress in advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications. Diabetes..
- 58. Vlassara H.(2003) PMR. Glycoxidation: the menace of diabetes and aging. Mt Sinai J Med.;232–241.
- 59. Ott C, Jacobs K, Haucke E, Navarrete Santos A, Grune T, Simm A (2014) Role of advanced glycation end products in cellular signaling. Redox Biol .;2(1):411–29.
- 60. Prasad K, Dhar I, Caspar-Bell G.(2014) Role of advanced glycation end products and its receptors in the pathogenesis of cigarette smoke-induced cardiovascular disease. Int J Angiol. ;24(2):75–80.
- 61. Yan SF, Ramasamy R, Schmidt AM.(2010) The RAGE axis a fundamental mechanism signaling danger to the vulnerable vasculature. Circ Res.;106(5):842–53.
- 62. Sakata N, Meng J, Jimi S, Takebayashi S (1995) Nonenzymatic glycation and extractability of collagen in human atherosclerotic plaques. Atherosclerosis.; 116(1):63–75.
- 63. Wu T, Rayner CK, Horowitz M (2015) Incretins. Handb Exp Pharmacol . ;233:137–71.
- 64. Dai Y, Mehta JL, Chen M (2013) Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist liraglutide inhibits endothelin-1 in endothelial cell by repressing nuclear factor-kappa B activation. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. ;27(5):371–80.
- 65. Hattori Y, Jojima T, Tomizawa A, Satoh H, Hattori S, Kasai K, et al.(2012) Erratum: A glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) analogue, liraglutide, upregulates nitric oxide production

- and exerts anti-inflammatory action in endothelial cells. Vol. 55, Diabetologia. Springer Verlag
- 66. Tasyurek HM, Altunbas HA, Balci MK, Sanlioglu S (2014) Incretins: Their physiology and application in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Vol. 30, Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews. p. 354–71.
- 67. Vanhoutte PM. Vascular endothelium and Ca2+ antagonists. (1988) Vol. 12, Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology. "Ovid Technologies (Wolters Kluwer Health)";
- 68. Takase H, Morcau P, Küng CF, Nava E, Lüscher TF (1996) Antihypertensive therapy prevents endothelial dysfunction in chronic nitric oxide deficiency: Effect of verapamil and trandolapril. Hypertension. ;27(1):25–31
- 69. Himmel HM, Whorton AR, Strauss HC (1993) Intracellular calcium, currents, and stimulus-response coupling in endothelial cells. Hypertension ;21(1):112–27.
- 70. Griendling KK, Minieri CA, Ollerenshaw JD, Alexander RW.(1994) Angiotensin II stimulates NADH and NADPH oxidase activity in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res;74(6):1141–8.
- 71. Ii M, Losordo DW( 2007). Vascular Pharmacology; <u>Volume 46, Issue 1</u>,Statins and the endothelium. p 1-9;
- 72. Ross R, Dodet B.(1999) Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory disease. In: American Heart Journal .Mosby Inc.
- 73. Libby P. Molecular bases of the acute coronary syndromes (1995) Vol. 91, Circulation. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; p. 2844–50.

- 74. Wolfrum S, Jensen KS, Liao JK. Endothelium-dependent effects of statins (2003); Vol. 23,
  Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; p. 729–
  36
- 75. Pedersen TR, Kjekshus J, Berg K, Haghfelt T, Faergeman O, Faergeman G, et al. (2004)
  Randomised trial of cholesterol lowering in 4444 patients with coronary heart disease: the
  Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S). 1994. Atheroscler Suppl.;5(3):81–7.

#### 7. BIOGRAPHY

#### PERSONAL DATA

Name and surname: Karlo Ružić

Date of birth: 17.03.1995

Place of birth: Zagreb, Croatia

#### **EDUCATION**

Faculty: School of medicine, University of Zagreb (2013-2021)

High school: IV gymnasium, Zagreb, Croatia

Primary school: I. OŠ. Dugave, Zagreb, Croatia

#### SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS

Foreign languages: English, German